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DECISION
The present procedure concerns the request of the Russian Federation for the extradition of the Respondent under the European Convention for the Extradition of Fugitives which the Republic of Cyprus ratified by Law 95/70 and by the Extradition of Fugitives Law 97/70 as amended by Law 97/90.
According to the Certificate issued by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (exhibit 2) under the Law on Evidence of International Treaties N. 103(1)/02, the Russian Federation has acceded to the European Convention on the Extradition of Fugitives which was signed in Paris on 13.12.1957 as well as to its two additional Protocols which were agreed upon in Strasbourg in 1975 and in 1978. The aforesaid convention and its Protocols apply to the Russian Federation on the strength of the aforesaid certificate as from 9.3.2000.

The authorisation for the commencement of the procedure was signed by the Minister of Justice and Public Order on 18.04.2007 (exhibit 15). On the same day, a warrant for the Respondent’s arrest was issued (exhibit 12). The warrant was executed on the following day at the Nicosia district police station where the Respondent went with his lawyer. When the reasons for his arrest were explained to him, he responded that he has committed no offence and that his prosecution from the Russian authorities is politically motivated.

The authorisation issued by the Ministry of Justice and Public Order refers to a bundle of documents recording the events which allegedly constitute offences for which the Respondent is facing charges in the Russian Federation. According to these, whilst at the position of supervisor at the programming department of Juridical Financial Company Ltd in 1998, the Respondent became a member of an organised group and participated in tax evasion cases involving an organisation engaged in the sale of oil and oil products of the oil producing companies-subsidiaries of the group “OC Yukos OJSC”, as well as in fraudulently appropriating governmental funds.
In particular, whilst holding the position of general manager of the company “Mitra” Ltd, registered in the jurisdiction of the city of Lesnoy with a privileged tax regime, as a member of an organised group he participated in the forging of documents relating to the production and refining of oil from the subsidiary companies of Yukos and particularly of agreements for the purchase and sale of oil, certificates of transport and acceptance of oil and oil products of the Yukos companies as well as invoices, with the aim of avoiding the payment of taxes and misappropriating funds. He also filed with the tax and local authorities documents with false information with the intention of defrauding them.

It is then stated that the Respondent knew that “Mitra” was in fact a mere front company since it never had any business activity. There was never any transport of oil or oil products to Lesnoy, only false registrations into the books of “Mitra” on the basis of documents which contained false information.
Moreover, in violation of Russian legislation, in December 1999 he submitted a promissory note of the “OC Yukos OJSC” group of companies, in lieu of the payment of taxes for “Mitra” concerning the last quarter of the year 1999 and the year 2000. He also entered false information in his tax returns and in other documents for 1999  and omitted to submit the balance sheet of the company “Mitra” for the year 2000, thus managing to avoid the payment of taxes of RR4,513,805,511 (4 billion, 513 million, 805 thousand, 511 Russian Rubbles), which he appropriated together with his collaborators.

In December 2000, as a member of an organised group, through false pretences and with the intention of misappropriating funds, he successfully claimed the return of taxation of RR44,072,126.61 (44 million, 72 thousand, 126 rubbles and 61 kopecks) to Mitra for alleged over taxation of profits by deceiving the officials of the administration of the city of Lesnoy, which amount he appropriated with his collaborators.

According to the Russian authorities, further investigation of the case revealed that in 2001-2003 the Respondent became a member of an organised group in Moscow set up by Michael Brundo and other Yukos executives and participated in the stealing of oil from the Yukos companies which the said companies had entrusted in them.

In addition, as general manager of the companies Ratibor, Ratmir and Mega Alliance, he participated in the forging of documents for the purchase and sale of oil stolen from the oil producing corporations of the company Yukos through the aforesaid companies. He signed false agreements with the three oil producing companies of Yukos regarding fabricated auctions for the purchase of oil so as to justify the unrealistic prices at which oil was sold. Through the reducing of the sale price for oil, the respondent and his collaborators transferred oil to the aforesaid companies at the price of 45-50 dollars per ton, which in turn they sold at the price of 150-160 dollars per ton and misappropriated oil causing damage of a total amount of 399.8 billion rubbles to the companies Yuganskneftegas and Tomskneft of Yukos.

In addition, according to the Russian authorities, the respondent has legalised the proceeds so acquired through the aforesaid illegal activity and in particular he paid dividends to the companies Ratibor and Fargoil and to the Cypriot companies Dunsley Ltd and Nassaubridge Management Ltd which are registered as owners of the aforesaid Russian companies. The proceeds so legalised are 221.5 billion rubbles.
According to the authorisation of the Ministry of Justice and Public Order, the aforesaid activities not only constitute violations of Russian legislation but also amount to criminal offences according to Cypriot law. In addition, they violate the following articles of the Cypriot penal code:

· Article 255 (theft), 269 (stealing by directors), 270 (stealing by agents), 297, 298 and 299 (obtaining goods by false pretences and securing the execution of a security by false pretences), 300 (cheating), 302 (conspiracy to defraud), 331, 333, 334 and 335 (forging a document) and 371 (conspiracy to commit a felony). In addition [the actions] amount to violation of articles 4 and 5 of the Law on Coverage, Investigation and Seizure by Some Criminal Activities 1996-2004 and articles 49, 50 and 51 of the Law on Imposition and Collection of taxes N. 4/78.
The above positions were strongly challenged by counsel for the respondent. The allegation primarily put forward both at the cross-examination of the witnesses of the Russian Federation as well as from the testimony which the respondent submitted in court, was that he did not commit any offence and his extradition is sought for political reasons. Counsel for the respondent relied on article 3 of the European Convention on the Extradition of Fugitives according to which extradition for political reasons is not allowed. It was clearly his position that the total of the criminal charges filed in Russia under the general name “Yukos cases” are politically motivated. The main target were the executives of the company and especially its President Khodorkovsky due to the economic and political power which Yukos acquired from its business activity in the oil sector. It was also submitted that in the event of the extradition of the respondent, he will not have a fair Trial precisely because of the Russian government’s political motives and due to the violations observed in the trials of Yukos which took place so far in Russia.

In support of the aforesaid allegations, testimony was presented on behalf of the respondent, according to which there was a serious violation of human rights at detention and at the judicial processes concerning other executives of Yukos tried for offences similar to the ones which the respondent is being charged with. Particular emphasis was placed on the alleged violations of the right to a fair trial of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev, another important Yukos executive, for which a decision from the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) was issued.

In view of the above issues under examination, it was inevitable that the testimony submitted in Court would concern the Yukos case in general which has occupied and continues to occupy public opinion in Russia. The volume of the testimony was enormous and its presentation was time-consuming. Several experts from abroad testified for both sides. Their cross-examination was exhausting and lasted several hearing dates for each one of them, needlessly may I say in some cases. Several volumes of documents with the lengthy reports from the experts and the authorities they relied upon were deposited in the Court as exhibits. Despite the Court’s will to conclude the present case in a short period of time because of its nature, nevertheless in view of the issues submitted under consideration and the testimony from abroad, the procedure was time consuming.
In addition, efforts were made not to burden this case further with my own transfer to the District Court of Limassol, which took place after the commencement of the hearing for this case. Therefore, I remained in the District Court of Nicosia for the whole of December 2007 trying this case every day in order to complete the testimony of the expert witnesses who had come from abroad. The priority given to this case resulted in the avoidance of any further delay and the conclusion of the hearing procedure at the soonest possible.

Having in mind the above positions of the respondent, Counsel for the requesting country introduced testimony regarding the Russian Penal and Tax code as well as the Criminal Procedure of Russia, in order to show that all legal procedures were complied with and there were no political motives in the respondent’s prosecution. Counsel for the respondent referred to these procedures, alleging exactly the opposite.  The respondent also referred to decisions of foreign Courts which examined and rejected applications from Russia for the extradition of the Yukos executives invoking political motives in criminal cases. Testimony was also delivered on behalf of the respondent for a resolution of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE) according to which the rights of the defendants to a fair trial in the Yukos case had been violated. Finally, reference was also made to a decision of the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) according to which there was a violation of the right to a fair trial in the case of Lebedev, a Yukos executive.
Testimony
Due to the large volume of the testimony and the long series of documents submitted before me I will refer very briefly, to the extent that this is possible of course, to the testimony before me, emphasising more the testimony of the experts in which the substantive positions of the two sides are revealed.

In total, nine witnesses testified on behalf of the requesting state. The testimony of the first three was technical in the sense that they testified as to the preliminary requirements for the issue of the requested extradition order. The remaining six witnesses came from Russia and referred to the Russian Criminal System and to the offences which the respondent is charged with in the Russian Federation. They also responded to the submissions of the respondent regarding the existence of political motives in his prosecution.
Prosecution witness no.1 Marios Papaevriviades from the Nicosia police referred to the conditions of arrest of the respondent who came to the police station out of his own will with his lawyer.

Prosecution witness no. 2 was Yianna Anastasiadou, an administrative officer from the Ministry of Justice and Public Order, competent in matters of international legal co-operation and extradition of fugitives. She deposited a series of documents as exhibits regarding the request of the Russian Federation for the respondent’s extradition. In addition to the certificate issued by the Minister of Foreign Affairs (exhibit 2) and the authorisation from the Minister of Justice and Public Order (exhibit 15), she also submitted bundles of documents sent from the Russian Federation in support of the request (exhibits 1 & 3). She also submitted documents concerning the previous procedure for the respondent’s extradition numbered 1/06 which was withdrawn before it reached the stage of the hearing.
During cross-examination, she referred to the previous procedure which had been withdrawn under instructions from the Attorney General’s office. Then she admitted that the Ministry was aware that the respondent had filed an application for asylum. It was submitted to her that there are European directives in relation to the minimum rights of asylum seekers. She stated that she is aware of the existence of some directives without knowing their content. She justified this by saying that she handles only issues of legal co-operation. When she advised the Minister to issue the authorisation, she was not aware of this information.
Elli Morphaki testified as prosecution witness no. 3. She works at the department of international legal co-operation of the Ministry of Justice and Public Order. She referred to a letter from the respondent’s lawyer informing the Ministry that his client is an asylum seeker. The arguments were put to the Asylum Service as well as to the requesting country for their reaction. However, there was some delay on the part of the Russian Federation. When the Russians’ comments reached the Ministry, the extradition procedure was already in progress. Their department does not deal with EU directives on asylum. It was her position, however, that neither the European Convention for the Extradition of Fugitives nor Cypriot legislation prohibit the extradition of recognised refugees.

During cross-examination, she mentioned that the present case is serious due to the political dimensions of the Yukos case and the cases which were tried in other countries. A resolution from the Council of Europe was also issued in relation to the same matter. She argued that the Ministry respects the decisions of the Council of Europe. However the issue is political, as she stated, and the political decision concerned the Minister himself.
All this information was put to the attention of the Minister of Justice and Public Order. However, after assessing all the facts of the case, it was decided that the relevant authorisation for the commencement of the procedure should be issued.

After that Prosecution Witness no. 4 Dr Yianni Pavel testified. He is a professor of law at the University of Moscow in Criminal Law and Criminal Procedure and editor-in-chief of the magazine “Criminal Law” published in Russia. He added that he is a professor in two independent educational establishments: The Russian Academy of law and the Institute of Professional Development of Executives of the Russian Attorney General’s office.

He had prepared a report upon the request of the Russian Attorney General’s office regarding the request for the extradition of Kartashov (exhibit 18). The report responds mainly to the allegations of the respondent’s experts Sakwa, Bowring and Gladyshev that the prosecution is of political nature. In particular, he challenges the position of the Russian lawyer Gladyshev that the payment of taxes with promissory notes does not contravene Russian legislation. After that he refers to particular charges which the respondent is facing in contravention of the Russian Penal Code, which he describes as crimes of common criminal law not entailing a political element.
In his testimony before the Court, he repeated his position that criminal prosecutions for misappropriation, fraud and theft cannot by themselves be of a political nature. He also referred to charges for tax offences which the respondent is facing in Russia, despite the fact that he had stated that his expertise lies in criminal law and not in taxation law.

During his cross-examination, the report of the lawyer Gladyshev which refers to Russian taxation law (exhibit 9) was pointed out to him. He claimed that he is not an expert and therefore cannot respond to questions relating to taxation offences. The respondent’s company MITRA had its activities in a region governed by a special tax regime. He himself however was not in a position to know details about the tax regime of that region.  It was submitted to him that, in spite of that, in his report he refers to tax offences committed by the respondent in relation to the manner of payment of taxation and particularly to the prohibition of the payment of taxes with promissory notes. He replied that as a legally trained person he is in a position to know basic rules of taxation law without going into details.
It was also submitted to him that the Federal Taxation Court of Russia ruled that the payment of taxes with promissory notes was permitted; he replied that he was not aware of such a thing. He repeated that this is prohibited by law and that any agreement concluded between MITRA and the authorities of that region for the payment of taxes by promissory notes is illegal and is criminally prosecuted.

It was submitted to him that the investigation authorities of the region had repeatedly found that there was no case against the respondent and that the criminal procedure against him started nevertheless after the personal intervention of President Putin. He replied that he would not be surprised if some state officials dealing with economic crime refused to open cases, implying that the respondent and his associates had connections with state officials. 

Finally, the witness argued that in the event of the extradition of the respondent there is no possibility for his rights to be violated. He will be able to be represented by a lawyer of his choice and it would be difficult for the Russian authorities to do anything reprehensible since the trial is of particular interest and will be monitored, as he said, by the whole world. It was submitted to him that a resolution of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE) had been issued on this point which concluded that there have been violations of human rights in relation to the trials of the Yukos executives. The witness replied that he had heard something about this but is not aware of any details.
Alexander Khaliulin testified as prosecution witness no. 5. He is a professor of Criminal Procedure and Criminology at the Russian Legal Academy of the Ministry of Justice of the Russian Federation. He also teaches Criminal Procedure to senior members of the Russian Attorney General’s office and is a member of the Editing Committee of the legal magazine “Laws of Russia” as well as of the committee for the evaluation and support of doctoral theses of the School of Law of the Russian University of Friendship amongst Peoples. The witness deposited his expert’s report in relation to the case (exhibit 19) in which he records the charges which the respondent is facing in Russia as well as the preliminary steps which the Russian Attorney General’s office took against him. He then commented on the reports of professors Bowring and Sakwa and of the lawyer Gladyshev who testified on behalf of the respondent.
The witness informed the court that a decision was issued  in the respondent’s absence for his detention until the trial of his case. This decision however may be changed by the investigator without the Court’s intervention. He found the allegations about the possibility of not having a fair Trial groundless. He also did not think that there were political motives in the case since Yukos is a company and not a political party. The respondent is not a political person and had never had any political activity. There had been many Court decisions concerning this case. The penalty of imprisonment was imposed in some of them but not in others. All the decisions of the Russian Courts in relation to Yukos have been appealed against. Some of them have been reversed and some not. According to the witness, the Russian judicial system follows the same legal principles expounded in the European Convention for Human Rights and there is no possibility for the respondent not to have a fair Trial if he is extradited to Russia.

The witness then denied the allegation stated in professor Bowring’s report that there was political intervention from President Putin in order for the respondent to be prosecuted. According to the witness, the said report relies entirely on publications in western media and websites financed by the Yukos executives. Reference was also made to the reports of the other experts deposited on behalf of the respondent. The witness’ view was that the conclusions regarding political motivations were arbitrary. The guilt or innocence of the respondent will be judged, according to the witness, by the Russian Courts. The Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (P.A.C.E.) cannot decide on the criminal responsibility of the Yukos executives.
During cross-examination, he accepted that the resolutions of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe are binding on the Russian Federation. However, the content of the resolution regarding the Yukos case does not correspond to reality. It was submitted to him that P.A.C.E. had carried out extensive research through a special rapporteur , the former justice minister of Germany, and that the resolution she proposed was passed with an overwhelming majority. He replied that this rapporteur visited Russia only twice for three days each time. In addition, when speaking to investigators of the case and Judges in Russia, he was informed that in her report she only took into consideration the positions of the defence Lawyers. In response to a question from counsel for the respondent whether these Judges were involved in the trials of the Yukos cases, he stated that some of them had examined the complaints of the accused Khodorkovsky and Lebedev for particular actions of the investigators. The witness believes that there is nothing reprehensible in these contacts of his with the Judges, despite counsel for the respondent’s the strong view to the contrary. In particular, he spoke with five Judges, mentioning to them that he is going to give testimony in Cyprus, in his effort to assess the situation objectively and draw his conclusions as to how things actually were. He did not speak to the defence Lawyers, since their positions were known. In response to the submission from counsel for the respondent that the views of the Judges were also known, he stated that he met with them in order to get their explanations for their decisions, despite the fact that these were known to him from before.

Referring to the respondent’s expert professor Bowring, he admitted that he was a member of a group of scientists who drafted the Russian Criminal Code which is in force today. The witness wondered, however, why professor Bowring was a defence witness in all the trials concerning the extradition of Yukos executives and who pays him to testify.

The following submissions were then put to the witness:

· Putin intervened for the criminal prosecution of the respondent and of other Yukos executives.

· Professor Bowring was arrested at Moscow airport and was deported from Russia after his entry visa was cancelled, in spite of the fact that he is a scientist who contributed to the reform of the judicial system of the country. This was done to prevent him from coming into contact with the defence lawyers of the Yukos case and because he had testified before an English Court against the extradition request which Russia had filed for Yukos executives.
· The President of Yukos Khodorkovsky was held in a remote prison at a distance of several hours by plane from Moscow in order to be deprived of direct contact with his Lawyers who have their offices in Moscow. The same applies to his close associate Lebedev who is held in a prison also located several hundreds of kilometres from Moscow. Indeed, when one of Khodorkovsky’s lawyers visited him, the persons in charge of the detention centre treated her in a humiliating manner, subjecting her to bodily search, stripping her completely and seizing all the documents she had in her possession which were related to the interview she had with her client.
· The Russian police carried out searches at the offices of the defence Lawyers, seizing material which was useful to the Lawyers for the handling of their case. Furthermore, the head of the legal department of Yukos was arrested and unlawfully detained whilst other lawyers were prosecuted and efforts were under way to strip them of their practising license.

The witness rejected all the above submissions. His position was that all arrests and searchers were lawful and were ratified by the Russian Courts when the affected lawyers applied to them. The documents seized refer to criminal actions for which some of the defence lawyers of Yukos are liable. According to him, communication between Lawyers and their detained clients is not prohibited in Russia. However, in the case of the particular lawyer, efforts were made to enable Khodorkovsky to give her a note aimed at his communication with third parties, which is forbidden by Russian legislation. Regarding the place of detention of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev, he argued that Russia is a vast country and that Lawyers are forced to travel all the time to meet with their clients. He denied allegations that a letter was sent from President Putin to the Attorney General or that there was any political intervention of this nature in the Yukos cases. According to the witness, all the above allegations are excuses of the accused Yukos executives in order to avoid their criminal liabilities before Russian Justice.
Julia Krokhina testified as prosecution witness no. 6. She is the dean of the Russian Academy of Law and head of the department of Public Law of the aforesaid academy. She specialises on taxation law and has published several studies on the subject. Amongst the books she has published is the book “Tax Law in Russia”.  In her written statement (exhibit 24) she responds to the arguments of the Lawyer Gladyshev in relation to the alleged tax offences which the respondent is charged with. Her position is that all the tax procedures and court decisions issued in relation to Yukos are in compliance with the Russian Tax Code and are therefore lawful. These cases came about as a result of Yukos’ violation of article 122 of the Russian Tax Code and involve mainly the avoidance of payment of taxes with various means. In this sense, the opinion of the lawyer Gladyshev that the tax charges filed against this company are politically motivated is incorrect.
Moreover, in paragraph 62 of her report she expresses the view that it was proven by the Russian Court Decisions that the companies controlled by Yukos, including the company Mitra of the respondent, in essence did not have their activities in the low taxation zones, contravening in this way the legislation governing these zones. As an oil owner, Yukos used these companies, signing with them commission contracts. These contracts were used to enable the companies registered in the low taxation zone and, by extension, Yukos to pay lower taxation. In this way, Yukos managed to avoid the payment of significant amounts from the tax it owed to the state.

Responding to the questions put to her at cross-examination, she referred to the appointment of the prosecutor in the Yukos case as a Judge in the same Tax Court in which she appeared as a representative of the Russian Federation. In spite of the submission to the contrary by counsel for the respondent, she argued that she did not see anything wrong in this appointment. She denied the allegation that another Tax inspector by the name of Ivanov was appointed President of the Supreme Tax Court without having the necessary qualifications, in order for the Kremlin to exercise political control over this Court.
It was submitted to her that all the applications filed with European Courts for the extradition of Yukos officials have been rejected because it was found that they were politically motivated. She replied that she specialises only on taxation law and has not read these decisions. She is aware, however, that after the rejection of an extradition request by the Swiss Court, a scandal arose that led to the resignation of the Attorney General of Switzerland.

She then denied the allegation that Yukos or any of its executives had any involvement in Russia’s political life. It was pointed out to her that Dukov, second in command in Yukos, was a member of parliament and member of the taxation committee of the Duma and is now a fugitive in Israel. She replied that this fact is not so important as to affect state policy. She argued that the decisions of the ECtHR for Lebedev and Gusinskiy have no relation to the present application.
Regarding the expert testimony of the lawyer Gladyshev, she insisted on her allegations as expressed in her report, that he does not understand taxation law and that his knowledge is less than that of a third year law student. For this criticism, she relies on the views of Gladyshev as they appear in the report he deposited in Court. She also claimed that Gladyshev has not published any articles and, despite the submissions to the contrary by counsel for the respondent that Gladyshev has won all the big taxation Trials in Russia, the witnesses insisted that she does not know him even though, due to her position, she knows all the big lawyers specialising in taxation. 
Tatyanna Rousanova, prosecutor at the office of the Public Prosecutor of the Russian Federation, testified as prosecution witness no. 7. She has been a prosecutor for over ten years and since June 2003 she participates in the investigations for the criminal charges faced by the respondent. After having referred in detail to the facts which, according to her allegations, amount to criminal offences she repeated the position of the Russian Federation that there are no political motives in the respondent’s prosecution.

She then referred to a letter by President Putin to the Public Prosecutor of the Russian Federation. She argued that the correspondence which followed proves that the office of the Public Prosecutor did not receive any instructions from President Putin in order to prosecute Khodorkovsky and his associates. On the contrary she acted independently and on the basis of Russian legislation.
The witness also alleged that an effort was made to legalise the profits from the misappropriation of oil of Yukos by transferring them to dependent companies abroad. Having this in mind, it emerges, according to the witness, that the respondent’s costs including the judicial costs of the present procedure are paid by the profits made from misappropriating oil from Yukos. The investigations carried out by the Russian Federation showed the respondent’s involvement in the misappropriation of oil belonging to Yukos and the efforts made to legalise the illegal profits from it. Mitra, the company run by the respondent, was involved in the sale of oil products The respondent himself does not appear to be drawing a salary as General Manager of Mitra, the accounts for which were prepared by Yukos Invest. Moreover, according to the witness, in December 1999 the respondent paid for the taxation of Mitra by transferring to the state promissory notes of Yukos.
In spite of these, in her report the witness argues that the present procedure by which the extradition of the respondent to Russia is sought is not related to the so-called, as she calls it, taxation case of Yukos. According to the witness, this case is used in order to tarnish the reputation of Russian justice and in order to enable the respondent to avoid his responsibilities.  It is for the same reasons that the Yukos executives Khodorkovsky and Lebedev claim that their prosecution is politically motivated. Moreover, other former Yukos executives present arguments before foreign courts regarding political prosecution in order to avoid their extradition to Russia.
During her cross-examination before the Court, the witness alleged that some Courts abroad were deceived by these arguments and refused to issue extradition orders. Particularly in relation to the decisions of the British magistrates Court at Bow Street in London, she stated that the position of the Russian Federation was not heard, in contrast with the present procedure where there was an opportunity to present their case and call witnesses. It was pointed out to her that these decisions relied inter alia in resolutions of the Council of Europe. She replied that although she respects the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe she nevertheless disagrees with these resolutions as they do not correspond to reality. There are no political motives, as she claimed, in the prosecution of Yukos nor is there any intervention from President Putin. According to the witness, the Trials of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev were fair and the investigation work was lawful in all respects. She therefore disagrees with the observations of PACE that there had been human rights violations in these procedures.

She rejected submissions by counsel for the respondent that the extradition is sought exclusively in order to put pressure on the respondent to testify in the new Trial of Khodorkovsky which begins in Russia. She also rejected the proposal that the Trial takes place in Cyprus since there are Cypriot companies involved in some of the charges. She stated that the respondent is a Russian citizen facing charging before Russian Justice and only the Russian Courts could try him. 
The same allegations for violations of human rights at the Trials of Yukos executives were put to the witness. She replied that one must hate Russia very much in order to have such views. She insisted in her position that from the testimony of the respondent’s experts nothing corresponds to reality.
Victoria Klevtsova testified as prosecution witness no. 8. She is a Senior Public Prosecutor in the Department of Extradition of Fugitives at the Office of the General Public Prosecutor of the Russian Federation. In her written statement (exhibit 26) she refers to the preliminary actions which preceded the extradition request as well as to the reasons which led to the withdrawal of the previous request. She also stated that she is authorised on behalf of the Public Prosecutor of the Russian Federation to ensure that in the event that the respondent is extradited to Russia he will be afforded all benefits and rights foreseen by Russian Legislation and the International Human Rights Treaties.
Referring to the reports deposited on behalf of the respondent, she argued that most of the arguments projected in them are wrong and distort truth. In particular, professor Bowring as well as the rest of the experts of the respondent, even though they tried to convince that he is prosecuted for political reasons, they failed to mention anything in relation to the political beliefs of the respondent who, according to the witness, had no political involvement in the political life of Russia.

She then referred to the case of Gusinskiy which is mentioned in paragraph 43 of professor Bowring’s report. In her view, the ECtHR found that the Russian authorities used criminal justice against Gusinskiy for other reasons and with specific political motives. She argued that that case has nothing to do with the present request for the extradition of the respondent. The fact that the ECtHR found that in at least one case the Russian authorities conducted a criminal investigation and deprived a person of his freedom without due cause cannot cover the whole of the Russian Justice System. Regarding the refusal of the Spanish authorities to extradite Gusinskiy to Russia, she referred to a series of other extradition requests filed by Russia which were satisfied by Spain. According to the witness this is indicative the trust of the Spanish authorities to the Russian Judicial System.
With reference to the report of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe, the witness stated that paragraph 15 of the resolution recognises the right of the Russian authorities to bring to justice those who violate the law. In addition, taking into consideration the time that elapsed since the issue of this resolution, the Russian Federation has, according to the witness, made significant steps towards the modernisation of its Legal and Judicial system, harmonising itself with the recommendations of the Council of Europe.
She told the Court that she herself had prepared the present request for the extradition of the respondent. In spite of the submissions to the opposite, she claimed that only British Courts rejected extradition requests for Yukos executives, invoking political motives of the Russian authorities. The same happened in Switzerland where the Appeal Court reversed the first instance decision ordering the extradition. However, she alleged that in that case there was conspiracy against the Attorney General of Switzerland with the aim of changing the policy of Switzerland which until then was in favour of legal cooperation with Russia. From her point of view, the rejection of the extradition request in that case was deliberate and took place after the intervention of the Swiss authorities and particularly the Minister of Justice. During cross-examination it was submitted to her that it was impossible that all the Judges of the Constitutional Court of Switzerland who participated in this decision were vulnerable to pressure from their government. She responded that in her view the said decision was taken under political pressure in order to serve the interests of the West.
Italy also rejected an extradition request albeit not for political motives but because of the statute of limitation. Similarly, the District Court of Larnaca rejected the request for the extradition of Kolesnikov but for other reasons and not because of political motives, an allegation which was not accepted by the Court. Spain satisfied all extradition requests except that concerning Gusinskiy. There are extradition requests still pending in Israel and the Czech Republic. 

Regarding England, she argued that it did not satisfy any request from Russia for the extradition of a fugitive. According to the witness, apart from the extradition of fugitives to U.S.A., the standard practice in England is to reject extradition requests. She even described this country as a haven for criminals who could cause problems to England itself. The reason why no testimony was presented on behalf of Russia at the English Court was the lack of experience of the Russian authorities in relation to these matters. 

During cross-examination it was submitted to her that she spoke of the respondent’s experts in a condescending way alleging that they were well-paid and that they write reports aiming only at profit. She replied that in her view Lawyers are more interested in money than in the administration of Justice. From her point of view, the concept of justice is satisfied when a person appears before the Court to answer for his actions and not when he is trying to avoid his responsibilities.

In relation to the resolution of P.A.C.E. she stated that Russia is always trying to comply with the recommendations of the Council of Europe. The reform of the Judicial System, however, cannot happen from one day to the other. According to the witness, this reform started well before the recommendations of the Council of Europe. As she stated, Russia is a large country and cannot become perfect from one day to the other. In any case, there is a trend of the Russian authorities to improve the situation.

Regarding the present case, she stated that one could not distinguish it completely from the rest of the Yukos cases but in her view each person is separately liable for his criminal actions.

Alexander Yablokov from the research department of the office of the General Public Prosecutor of the Russian Federation testified as prosecution witness no. 9. In his report (exhibit 28) he also responds to particular points in the report of the Lawyer Gladyshev. However, he does not know him personally, nor has he heard his name before despite the fact that he worked for the Moscow Bar Association for three years from 1994 till 1997.
During cross-examination he admitted that he himself is not a lawyer and has not been involved with lawyers’ issues for a very long time. This is perhaps the reason why he has not heard the name of the Lawyer Gladyshev. He is also not an expert on taxation Law. It was submitted to him that this is precisely the reason why he is not in a position to critically evaluate the report of the Lawyer Gladyshev. He replied that in the said report there were many elements which concern Arbitration Law which he wanted to comment on.
The Lawyer Vladimir Gladyshev testified as defence witness no. 1. In his report (exhibit 29) he refers to what he describes as violations of the right to a Fair Trial by the Russian authorities in the Yukos case as well as to the relation between that case and the present extradition request. He has worked from 1981 until 1989 at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Soviet Union and from 1989 until 1994 he was posted at the Soviet and subsequently Russian Embassy in Madrid. At the request of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of his country, he has prepared a study for the transition of Spain to democracy following Franco’s dictatorship. In particular, he has prepared notes for the drafting of the Spanish Constitution and the reform of the Spanish Judicial System.
Today he is a Lawyer with his own office in Moscow and specialises inter alia on Constitutional and Taxation Law. In the framework of his work, he has represented a series of companies of Russia and of other countries in tax related Judicial processes. He also acted as a consultant on tax issues for several large western firms active in Russia in collaboration with the auditing firm of Price Waterhouse Coopers. 
He has studied all the material concerning the Yukos case and the producing of its executives before the Court. He also conducted interviews with persons involved in these procedures. He testified as expert witness on these matters before the Bow Street Magistrates Court in England at the extradition requests concerning Chernysheva and Maruev and has participated in several public discussions amongst the legal experts of Russia in relation to the Yukos case. He is therefore aware of the whole spectrum of views on that subject.
According to the witness, the Yukos case is not a genuine taxation case. On the contrary, it is a politically directed campaign of the state against an internal enemy who, according to the Kremlin, constituted a political rival of President Putin. The target was Khodorkovsky who built Yukos from the ruins of the Soviet Oil industry and transformed it into the largest and most profitable company in Russia. The economic power of Yukos led to Khodorkovsky acquiring large political influence in the post-soviet Russia so as to be considered dangerous by the Russian state. The Kremlin’s aim was to destroy this company and for this purpose tax laws were used as coverage in order to convict its executives and confiscate its property.

In his view, the Russian authorities have unlawfully interfered with Judicial processes and decisions of the Russian courts, in their efforts to secure the conviction of the Yukos executives.  Thus, Judicial processes became the medium of an orchestrated political attack against all persons related to Khodorkovsky and his company, the “oligarchs” as they are usually referred to in Russia. In the same way that Gusinskiy was politically exterminated in the past, as it was accepted by the ECtHR. According to the witness, the similarity of the charges between the Khodorkovsky case and the present case as well as the similarity of the facts which led to the filing of the two cases makes it impossible for the respondent to have a fair Trial in Russia. 
Furthermore, the witness testified before the Court on a recent decision of the Dutch Court refusing to recognise the procedure for the liquidation of Yukos which took place in Russia, describing the tax cases against the company and the procedures for the confiscation of its property as politically tainted.

Regarding some of the charges faced by the respondent, he argued that at the crucial time, the payment of taxes in Russia by set-off and/or by promissory notes was lawful. This is confirmed by consecutive Court decisions of the Arbitration Court which handles tax cases. He also claimed that it emerges from the facts presented on behalf of the Russian government that there is no prima facie case against the respondent for any of the offences attributed to him. In his view, it is more than obvious that this case is fabricated by the Russian authorities.
With reference to the decisions of the Bow Street Magistrates Court of England, he claimed that they are no different to the present case either in terms of facts or in terms of the alleged charges. In his view, the massive violations observed in Russia have irrevocably tainted the whole procedure concerning the Yukos case to the effect that it is certain that there is no possibility for the accused to be treated differently if he is extradited to the Russian authorities.
During cross-examination it was submitted to him that he is prejudiced against Russia, implying that he was financed by Yukos in order to express these views. He replied that he never took money from Yukos nor was he ever directly or indirectly employed by it. He does not view this case as a means to become rich but as an effort to improve the human rights situation in his country. He described himself as a Russian patriot who served his country from many posts. He stated that it is the duty of every patriot to help his country in the implementation of human rights and to denounce it when it violates human rights. It is those who support the violations of human rights who are doing damage to their countries. With regard to the present procedure, he understands that his duty as an expert is to assist the Court objectively and without prejudice, by testifying on matters within his expertise.
Professor Richard Sakwa testified as defence witness no. 2. Since 1996 he teaches Russian and European Politics at the Department of International Relations of the University of Kent at Canterbury. He received his doctorate degree in 1984 from the Centre for Russian and Eastern European Studies of the University of Birmingham. He specialises on contemporary political life in Russia, on which he has published several studies before as well as after the collapse of the Soviet Union. According to his written statement, the charges faced by the respondent are connected with a series of cases known today by the general name of “Yukos cases”.

The witness claimed that these cases have been fabricated by the political leadership in Russia and particularly by President Putin in order to damage Yukos and its President Khodorkovsky who had acquired great political influence in Russia because of his involvement in the oil trade. The political threat for the Kremlin was summed up in the economic and social control exercised by Yukos as well as in the political ambitions of Khodorkovsky to compete, at a future stage, for the Russian presidency.  According to the witness, Khodorkovsky decided after 2000 to transform Yukos to a modern and open company with western-type auditing methods and transparent balance sheets issued every three months. The company was transformed into one of the best performance companies in Russia. It drilled about 2% of world oil reserves and, making use of the rise in the price of oil, became one of the most important players in the world oil trade. The company also became a model organisation with proper management. At the same time, for a large number of political issues, Yukos started to constitute a threat to the handling by the Kremlin of economic and social issues of Russia. Therefore the Russian Government started to aim at the reinstatement of the dominant role of the state in the energy sector and particularly in the drilling and exploitation of oil.
The efforts of the state to recover its dominant position in the economy did not affect only Yukos. In the first year of his presidency, President Putin promised to eliminate the class of the “oligarchs”. The term is used in Russia to describe the persons who took advantage of the unstable situation after the collapse of the Soviet Union and managed to accumulate enormous wealth at the beginning of the 1990s.  According to the witness, this threat could only be compared with the threat voiced by Stalin in 1929 that he was going to exterminate the class of the Kulaks, which he eventually did. The new policy towards the “oligarchs” would be implemented in the framework of mutual distance. The phenomenon of businessmen walking the corridors of power, using the power of the state in order to increase their wealth was to be terminated. To the extent that the “oligarchs” paid their taxes and did not get involved in politics, they were allowed freedom to conduct their business. Problems emerged only when they would start getting involved in politics. Two politicised “oligarchs” are typical examples. Boris Berezovsky and Vladimir Gusinskiy who were involved in the mass media sector were finally forced into exile. A decision of the ECtHR was issued in respect of the latter, according to which the Russian authorities had used criminal justice against him not for a criminal offence but for other purposes in order to force him to surrender his television rights so as for the state to gain commercial benefit in the field of mass media.
The attack against the “oligarchs” continued with the case of Yukos, the most powerful and profitable Russian Company according with the witness. The Trial of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev was followed by other trials of the lower executives of Yukos as well as of the lawyers of the company like Svetlana Bakhmina. Some lawyers who represented Khodorkovsky in the Judicial procedures were also arrested and prosecuted.
In all of these cases, there was political intervention from the Russian authorities in order to secure a conviction. Moreover, the right to a fair Trial was flagrantly violated. The result was the issue of the relevant resolution from the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe condemning the Russian Federation for interference in the administration of Justice and for the use of the criminal procedure in order to serve its own purposes. In addition, the ECtHR found in its decision that in the Trial of Lebedev there had been serious violations of the right to a fair Trial as well as of the right of the accused to legal representation. 

According to the witness, the political nature of the case emerges also from the denial of the Russian state to accept a compromise on the tax issues. Yukos would have been able to survive even the overwhelming and unjustified tax imposed on it if it was allowed to continue its operations. The Russian state however declined all proposals for a compromise as a result of which, after Khodorkovsky’s Trial, the taxation exceeded the assets of the company. The refusal to arrive at a tax compromise as it happened with other large companies shows that the Russian authorities were not aiming at collecting taxes but at destroying Yukos and its role in Russian economy and society, which was finally achieved. The inability to pay the taxation imposed led to the compulsory sale of “Yuganskneftegaz” which was the main oil producing subsidiary company of Yukos. This company finally fell into the hands of the Kremlin-controlled “Rosneft”.
According to the witness, with Yukos’ liquidation and Khodorkovsky’s imprisonment, the Russian authorities achieved a double target. The elimination of Khodorkovsky’s political influence and the reorganisation of the Russian energy sector in which the state recovered its primary role. Even if the intentions of the state were good, the manner in which its targets were met was, according to the witness, unlawful. It is a political battle for survival, as he said, in which the independence of the judiciary was rated second. In fact, the Judicial system of the country was used in order to eliminate a political enemy, as Yukos was in this case.

There were several reactions to the aforesaid developments. The Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE) adopted a recommendation from the former Minister of Foreign Affairs of Germany and issued a resolution in which serious human rights violations are noted in the Yukos case.  Many western governments and organisations such as Amnesty International expressed their concern for the interventions in the independence of the judiciary in Russia.

The decision of the ECtHR for Lebedev as well as the decisions of European Courts rejecting extradition requests for former Yukos executives must be seen as part of the same framework. According to the witness, the Yukos case is not yet completed. The Public Prosecutor’s office announced that new charges will be brought against Khodorkovsky before his release after serving his first sentence. The extradition from Cyprus of Kolesnikov, one of the Lawyers of Khodorkovsky, was also sought. The present application against Kartashov forms another part of the Yukos case which is continuing before the Russian Courts. According to the witness, under the circumstances the present application is politically motivated and there is no chance for the respondent to have a fair Trial if he is extradited to Russia.
At cross-examination he was asked whether he precludes the possibility of offences having been committed by Khodorkovsky and Yukos. He replied that this is not the issue because the main reason for their prosecution was political. Khodorkovsky was the most distinguished of the oligarchs and the most dangerous vis-à-vis the aims of the Putin administration. It is not up to the witness to judge whether this was the correct response from the state to an economic system developed during the 1990s through which economic empires were created and not always with legitimate means. He clearly believed, however, that the Yukos case was politically motivated and constituted a turning point in the efforts of the state to restore its primary role in Russian Economy. In the course of their efforts, the Russian authorities interfered unlawfully in the Judicial mechanisms in order to achieve their political aims. In this case, Judicial independence submitted to political expediency. Not all “oligarchs” were prosecuted, of course. Only those who acquired great power and had political ambitions like Khodorkovsky or who actively intervened in political life through the mass media like Gusinskiy. Finally, the witness mentioned that from a certain point in time onwards Khodorkovsky tried to establish a powerful western type company with transparent accounts and operation but it was already too late since he had already been subjected to the attack from the Russian authorities. In his endeavour to emphasise the extent of the power of the Russian state he stated that Yukos, having being the third largest company in the world, does not exist today because it was deemed as a threat to Russian state power.
With regard to the respondent in the present case, he repeated that his prosecution is politically motivated, not because of the political views of Kartashov himself but because the charges he is facing are directly connected with the Yukos case. Given the trend of events in Russia, it is certain that the respondent will not have a fair Trial if he is extradited to the Russian authorities.
William Bowring testified as defence witness no. 3. He is a professor of Law at Birkbeck College of the University of London. He is fluent in the Russian language and has since 1983 visited Russia several times. He is a scholar of Russian language and history as well as of Soviet and Russian Law and has published several articles and studies. From 1997 until 2003 he acted as consultant to the governmental department of the United Kingdom for human rights in Russia. He has on several occasions served as an expert on Russian and Post-soviet law. Under the framework of programs mostly funded by the British Council he often travelled to Russia and met with several members of the Russian Judicial body, of the executive and of the parliament. The witness is amongst the experts who drafted the new Criminal Procedure Code of the Russian Federation and continues until today to teach Russian members of the Judiciary on the implementation of criminal Procedure, upon the request of the Russian authorities. This fact however has not stopped the Russian government from cancelling his visa at a particular instance and from denying him entry into Russia after he gave testimony against an extradition request which the Russian Federation had filed before an English Court.

According to his written statement (exhibit 41), the request of the Russian authorities in the present case is politically motivated and is related to the Yukos case in which there were massive human rights violations. Upon their arrest, Khodorkovsky and his associates were subjected to inhumane treatment and flagrant human rights violations as well as interventions from the state.
For his aforesaid conclusions the witness relies inter alia on the report of the special rapporteur of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE) Sabine Leutheusser-Schnarrenberger, former Minister of Justice in Germany, which records a series of violations of fundamental rights of the Yukos executives during their arrest and Trial. It also records a series of complaints expressed by Khodorkovsky’s defence Lawyers, like the bodily search of Lawyers, warrants for the search of the offices of defence Lawyers such as the office of Anton Drel, one of Khodorkovsky’s lawyers, and the seizure of material necessary for the preparation of the defence. Reference is also made to a series of acts of harassment and pressure towards the defence Lawyers of Khodorkovsky. The witness’ final conclusion was that it is unlikely that the respondent will have a fair Trial in the event of his extradition to Russia precisely because of the connection between the charges he is facing with the Yukos case and because of his connection with Khodorkovsky.
During cross-examination, he rejected allegations that he is prejudiced against Russia. On the contrary, he said, he had helped the Russian authorities as an expert after the collapse of the Soviet Union. He is amongst those who believe that a powerful Russia is an element of stability at the international scene. He believes, however that after the Yukos case there has been a significant recession in the effort to democratise the institutions of the Russian Federation. 

Elena Liptser testified as defence witness no.4. She is a practising lawyer in Moscow and has, together with other Lawyers, represented the Yukos executive Platon Lebedev since January 2004 at the preliminary investigation, during the first instance trial and at the appeal. She also acts on behalf of Lebedev in the applications he has filed at the ECtHR. She does not personally know the respondent in the present procedure but she is aware that he is accused of having been a member of the organised group of Lebedev and that the charges he is facing are similar to those brought against Khodorkovsky. She stated that the purpose of her testimony is to help the Court understand the violations of the right to fair Trial which her client has suffered during the Judicial procedures. 
She then referred to the report of the Centre for Assistance to International Protection based in Moscow which contains analytical reference to the alleged human rights violations observed during the Yukos Trials as well as to the pressure exerted on the lawyers of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev. As she stated, her application to the ECtHR relies primarily on that report.

During cross-examination she stated that the report was drafted after interviewing the Lawyers and the complaints they submitted to the International Protection Centre. She rejected the submission that she is prejudiced and argued that for all of these accusations there is objective material and evidence which were deemed acceptable both by the Council of Europe and by the ECtHR. She made special reference to the police search at the office of the Lawyer Drel in his absence and without having secured in advance a search warrant. The documents seized were used as testimony in the Trials of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev despite the fact that this was forbidden by Law. Now no one can guarantee to any of the Lawyers including herself that the police will not enter their offices while they are out in order to seize documents relating to their communication with their clients. She was not present herself at the search at the offices of the above lawyer but she has no reason not to believe Drel who personally denounced the incident to her. 
She also referred to a recent personal experience of hers when she asked for a prosecutor to be exempted from the case of Lebedev because at the investigation stage he had refused to comply with the preliminary order of Court and continued with the investigation of the case, which was deemed unlawful. When the Court withdrew in order to decide on the request for exemption, the said prosecutor threatened her that he was going to file a Criminal case against her. According to the witness, this threat alone causes psychological pressure in the execution of her work. She argued that there is no equality of ammunition in the Russian Justice system and that she would not be surprised if at some stage a criminal case was filed against her or her license to practice was revoked, as it happened with other defence lawyers of Yukos. 
She also referred to the transfer of her client to the Chita region which is a journey of about 7 hours by plane. She claimed that this was done in order to render communication with her client impossible, since the whole investigation of the case took place in Moscow. A Court in Moscow found the investigation of the case at Chita unlawful but the prosecutor refused to comply and continued unlawfully with the investigation in this region, aiming solely at preventing her from coming into contact with her client. By the time that the decision of the Court in Moscow was reversed at the appeal, the investigation in Chita had already been completed. The refusal of the prosecutor to comply with the order of the Moscow Court amounts, according to the witness, to a criminal offence which was reported to the Attorney General of Russia but without any consequences. 
Finally, the witness referred to three applications filed on behalf of Lebedev at the ECtHR. Out of these, a decision has been issued only in the first one dated 25.10.2007 while the other two are still pending. In its decision dated 25.10.2007 the ECtHR found that at the preliminary stage of Lebedev’s Trial the Russian Federation violated article 5(1), (3) and (4) of the convention.  His unauthorised detention, the delay in the re-examination of the detention order and the issue of the relevant detention order in Lebedev’s absence without hearing his views were depicted as the most important violations. The second appeal concerned violations which took place during Lebedev’s Trial between 2004-2005. This application was deemed admissible at the preliminary stage and was given priority. The ECtHR sent a questionnaire to the Russian government asking questions on the main issues arising in relation to Lebedev’s application for violation of the right to fair Trial and for his inhumane treatment in prison in spite of the health problems he was facing. 
Addresses
In his address, counsel for the respondent submitted that the tax offences for which the extradition is sought did not constitute offences in the Republic of Cyprus at the crucial time, as a result of which the double criminality requirement, in other words the simultaneous provision in both countries for the criminal nature of the actions, was not met. The rule was also not proven for the offences of conspiracy to defraud and conspiracy to commit a felony since, according to the witness Yianni Pavel, the offence of conspiracy does not exist in the Russian Penal Code. Conspiracy relates to the length of the sentence but is not recognised as a separate criminal offence, as is the case in the Cypriot legislation.
Then, with reference to the testimony delivered, counsel argued that the present case constitutes part of the case known as the Yukos case, in respect of which a resolution from the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe had been issued and which was quoted by many European Courts, during the examination of extradition requests of Russian citizens who had been executives of this company. Reference was then made to the interpretation of the term “political opinion” offered in English case law, in an effort to show that it is not a required component that the respondent be involved in political life or have political views in order to prove the political motives of the Russian Federation. It suffices to show that the present application falls within the Yukos case for which there is overwhelming evidence that it was politically motivated. 
Counsel then referred to the testimony introduced by the respondent and argued that at least as regards professors Sakwa and Bowring their capacity as experts was not challenged but instead an effort was made to attack their credibility. With regard to the lawyer Gladuyshev, he claimed there was bad faith from the other side who challenged even his capacity as a lawyer, forcing counsel for the respondent to introduce and translate from Russian into English all the documents establishing this capacity of the witness. Counsel asked the Court to accept the substance of this testimony in its entirety, arguing that it is supported by a large volume of documents deposited in the Court.
Counsel then argued that the testimony introduced by the requesting state must not be accepted. The Russian state officials who testified in Court expressed a mentality that whoever disagreed with them was an enemy of Russia. Neither the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe nor the foreign courts who rejected the requests for the extradition of Yukos executives, not even the ECtHR were exempted from this description. They did not challenge the fact that no European Court has granted extradition requests concerning Yukos. They did challenge however the impartiality of these Courts. 
It was however clear enough for counsel that not only are there political motives in this case but there is a risk in the event of the respondent’s extradition to Russia that he may not have a fair Trial. On the basis of what happened during the Trials of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev, it does not appear that the respondent will have a different treatment. It was typical that prosecution witness no. 5 Alexander Khaliulin spoke with five Russian judges prior to giving testimony in this Court, in order to receive guidance and arguments for the purpose of challenging the positions of the defence. Counsel claimed that at least one of them serves at the Court which issued that arrest warrant and which will try the respondent if he is extradited tot Russia, another two are Presidents at the Court of Moscow and the rest serve at the Supreme Court and have heard the Appeals of Khodorkovsky and Lebedev, Counsel wondered how it is possible that Judges may give arguments to a witness in order to achieve the extradition of a fugitive who has been tried or will be tried in the future by them. And how can the respondent’s right to a fair Trial be secured under these circumstances?
Counsel then referred to the fact that the respondent has been an asylum seeker since 2005, in other words before the arrest warrant against him was issued by the Russian authorities in relation to the present case. With reference to bibliography and to a resolution of the Council of Europe, he submitted that extradition is not allowed as a result of the application of the rule of non-refoulement, in other words the prohibition of deportation for any reason until the final determination of the asylum application.  

In her address, counsel for the requesting state referred extensively to the case law establishing the preconditions for the extradition of fugitives. She argued that according to established legal authority, the liberal interpretation of international agreements for the extradition of fugitives is imperative for the achievement of the legitimate aim they aspire to and which is none other than the combating of crime at an international scale.
Counsel then submitted that the requesting state has fulfilled all preconditions set out in the relevant law but also in article 12 of the European Convention on the Extradition of Fugitives. She argued that the compliance of the Russian Federation with these preconditions was not challenged at any stage of the procedure.

Counsel for the requesting state then alleged that the present case should be separated from other cases where Yukos executives were involved, even though there appears to be some involvement of persons accused in the case of Apatit which is allegedly connected with former Yukos executives. No testimony was introduced to show that the respondent was accused in the case of Apatit in which these persons were involved and in respect of which extensive testimony was introduced with allegations of ulterior motives.
With regard to the allegations for political motives, referring to article 3 of the Convention, counsel submitted that no testimony was introduced to prove that the offences which the respondent is charged with are of a political nature. On the contrary, it emerges from the testimony delivered that they constitute offences of common Criminal Law. Neither does it emerge from the testimony that the prosecution is conducted for the political beliefs of the respondent since, according to counsel, there is no testimony regarding his political beliefs. Nor is the respondent’s effort to include himself in the class of the “oligarchs” successful since the only testimony available is that he is a mere director of some “front” companies without having a personal contact with Khodorkovsky.

Counsel then referred to the allegations for the violation of the respondent’s right to a fair Trial in case he is extradited to Russia. According to counsel, these allegations are irrelevant because the possibility of a fugitive not having a fair Trial is not recognised by the Convention as a reason to deject the extradition request. It was clearly her position that if and to the extent that the Court has all the due assurances from the requesting state that the fugitive will have a fair trial and will not be exposed to torture and cruel, inhumane and degrading treatment, then the Court is forced to accept these assurances and not challenge the assurances of a state-member of the Council of Europe through its decisions.
In spite of these, counsel referred to case law of the ECtHR according to which, in order for a fugitive to succeed in his allegation that he will not have a fair trial in violation of article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights, testimony must be produced that there is an apparent possibility for the violation of this right. She then alleged that no such testimony was introduced from the respondent in the present case.
Within the framework of the aforesaid allegation, reference was also made to the resolution of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe which was based on the report of rapporteur Sabine Leutheusser-Schnarrenberger. Counsel submitted that these documents must not be accepted because they are a mere finding without the strength of a decision of the ECtHR. Furthermore, the views of the Russian side are conspicuously absent from the resolution due to the method followed by the rapporteur in collecting information. Therefore her recommendations cannot lead to a safe conclusion as to the correctness of her finding.

Moreover, in spite of the resolution, the fact remains that the Russian Federation is a state-member of the Council of Europe and it follows, according to counsel, that it is bound by the principles established by the European Convention on Human Rights. Irrespective of the above, counsel submitted that the existence of this resolution may provide the guarantee that the Russian Federation will take all necessary corrective measures for compliance with the alleged omissions attributed to it for the avoidance of a similar resolution in the future. 

Legal nature of the extradition request
The current application is based on the European Convention for the Extradition of Fugitives which was signed in Paris on 13.12.1957 and ratified by the Republic of Cyprus by Law 95/70 (hereinafter “the Convention”) and by the Extradition of Fugitives Law 97/70 as amended by Law 97/90. Law 97/70 regulates in general the preconditions and the procedure for the extradition of fugitives especially between countries that have acceded to the aforesaid Convention.

By its very nature, the extradition of fugitives involves a typical criminal procedure. In spite of this, the procedure of examination of an extradition request is civil jurisdiction which however is not equivalent to a civil action. In the case of Melas v. Chief of Police (1998) 1 SCC 2261 it was stated that it is a special procedure adapted to the nature of the object of the request for the extradition of a fugitive. Its main purpose is to establish whether the preconditions for extradition are met. Furthermore, in the case of Attorney General (no. 1) (1992) 1 SCC 136 it was stated that the Court before which the procedure for an extradition request is conducted according to article 9(2) of Law 97/70 follows to the closest possible degree the same procedure as that of a Judge conducting a preliminary enquiry. The Judge does not make an assessment of the civil rights or obligations of the fugitive or of any charge brought against him. The order of the Court at the end of the procedure may lead either to the extradition of the fugitive or to the rejection of the request.
The procedural requirements for the extradition of a fugitive are set out in article 12 of the Ratifying law 95/70 according to which the request must be articulated in writing through the Diplomatic route and must be supported by all the relevant documents set out in the convention. Article 2 of the Convention establishes the rule of double criminality. According to this, extradition is ordered for acts punishable by laws in the requesting as well as in the requested state.
In the case of Director of Central Prison v. Golov (2004) 1 SCC 1109 it was stressed that Law 97/70 renders the statement of facts submitted by the requesting state as the required evidence for extradition to the countries that that have signed the Convention. According to the said decision, the case law confirms the principle that the criterion for the extradition of a fugitive is not whether the offence stated in the foreign arrest warrant is substantially similar to the offence under the national law, but whether the conduct of the fugitive, had it taken place in the requested state, would amount to an offence according to the law of this country.

In addition, the description of the offences in the foreign arrest warrant is not of crucial significance so long as the offence for which extradition is requested is recognised in both countries as substantially similar. The case of Mechanov (No. 2) (2001) 1 SCC 1228 1234 is relevant, where it is stated that there is no legislative provision requiring that the authorisation for the commencement of the procedure should include any further details of the offence for which extradition is requested like the precise number of the article in the code which creates the offence.
Preliminary requirements for the examination of the request
Having the aforesaid analysis in mind, I do not share the view of counsel for the respondent that the rule of double criminality is not complied with as regards the offences relating to articles 49-51 of the Imposition and Collection of Taxes Law 4/78 or that these offences are not extraditable since, at the crucial period of their commission, they did not meet the requirements of extradition because they were punishable with only six months’ imprisonment maximum. I recall that under the aforesaid case law there is no need for absolute identification of the offences, nor is the description of the offences in the foreign arrest warrant of crucial significance. The fact remains that the particular actions attributed to the respondent by the Russian Federation concern the avoidance of payment of taxes which constitutes an offence in both legal orders.

Moreover, as rightly noted by counsel for the requesting state, article 2 of the Convention specifies in paragraph 2 that in the event of the extradition of a person for an offence, he may also be extradited for other offences which do not fulfil the conditions with regard to the degree of punishment which may be awarded. The offences which meet the double criminality requirement and which are referred to in the authorisation (exhibit 15) are those of theft, theft by directors, theft by agents, extracting goods by false pretences, fraud, conspiracy to defraud and to commit a felony in violation of a series of articles of the Cypriot Penal Code. The offences which are contrary to the Coverage, Investigation and Confiscation Law 1996-2004 also meet the requirement of the rule.
In addition, regarding the first three witnesses of the requesting state who testified on the aforesaid procedural requirements, I must say they made a good impression on me from the witness stand. Besides, their testimony was not challenged at its points of substance relating to the preliminary requirements, nor has it been challenged at cross-examination by counsel for the respondent.
Having in mind the above, I find that the preliminary requirements for the examination of the extradition request are met since:

· The Russian Federation has acceded to the European Convention on the Extradition of Fugitives which, together with its Protocols, applies to Russia as of 9.3.2000(exhibit 2). 

· The extradition procedure started with the authorisation of the Minister of Justice of the Republic of Cyprus dated 18.4.2007 (exhibit 15).

· All necessary certificates such as the arrest warrant, the statement of facts, the designation of the offences under Russian legislation as well as data on the identity of the respondent are attached to the application. These documents were drafted in Russia and were translated into English under article 23 of the Convention.

· The requirement of double criminality is met because the actions referred to in the statement of facts constitute offences also in the Republic of Cyprus.

Given the above, I will proceed to examine the substantial objections projected by the defence regarding the legal dimension and in combination with the testimony delivered before the Court.

The respondent’s identity as an asylum seeker. The principle of ‘non-refoulement’
The first element that ought to be decided is whether the extradition is justified given that the respondent is an asylum seeker. The fact that the respondent filed an asylum application to the competent authorities was not challenged by counsel for the requesting state. On the contrary, prosecution witness 2 Anastasiadou admitted that the respondent had filed an asylum application and that this was known to the Minister of Justice when he signed the relevant authorisation (exhibit 15). According to the witness, the Minister took all facts into consideration and signed the authorisation for the commencement of the present procedure in spite of this fact.  What was essentially challenged by counsel for the requesting country was the time of submission of the asylum application by the respondent. In her final address, she alleged that the application was filed on 28.6.2005 which is the date on which the first arrest warrant against the respondent was issued in Cyprus in relation to the first extradition application which was withdrawn.  

I recall however that the only testimony delivered as to the time of submission of the asylum application is a letter from counsel for the respondent towards the Minister of Justice dated 9.8.2006 (exhibit 4) in which he calls on the Minister not to proceed to the issue of the initial authorization because his client is an asylum seeker since 27.6.2005.

Irrespective of that, it is a fact that at the time of the signing of the authorisation in the present case by the Minister of Justice on 18.4.2007 (exhibit 15), the authorities of the Republic of Cyprus were aware that an asylum application from the respondent was pending before the asylum service. The Minister of Justice nevertheless chose to proceed with the issue of the authorisation.

Counsel for the respondent argued that his client’s extradition cannot be ordered from the Court prior to the determination of the asylum application. In spite of the fact that the Geneva conception refers to recognised refugees, he claimed that this also applies to asylum seekers. To this effect, reference was made to the principle of non-refoulement, as established by the Convention on Refugees signed in Geneva on 28.7.1951. This convention applies to the Republic of Cyprus and its additional Protocol was ratified by Law 73/1968. Moreover, the Republic of Cyprus enacted Law 6(1)/2000 for the more effective implementation of the convention, the provisions of which (law) concern the procedure for the recognition of refugees under the aforesaid Convention.
The legal term ‘non-refoulement’ originates from the French language and means the prohibition of return or surrender of refugees to their countries of origin. Article 33(1) of the Geneva Convention which establishes this principle reads:
Prohibition of Expulsion or Return (“Refoulement”)
“No contracting state shall expel or return (‘refouler’) a refugee in any manner whatsoever to the frontiers of territories where his life or freedom would be threatened on account of his race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion”.

In the English case European Roma Rights Centre and others v. Immigration Officer at Prague Airport and another (2005) 1 All ER 527 extensive reference is made to the aforesaid principle. I quote below a relevant extract:

“The French verb ‘refouler’ and the French noun ‘refoulement’ are, in art. 33, the subject of stipulative definition: they must be understood as having the meaning of the English verb and noun ‘return’.



……………………………………………………………………..
This language must be understood to oblige contracting states to admit refugees coming to seek asylum but in the opinion of a respected commentator the word ‘refouler’ in the authoritative French text was not used to mean ‘refuse entry’ but ‘return’, ‘reconduct’ or ‘send back’, and the provision did not refer to the admission of refugees but only to the treatment of refugees who were already in a contracting state.”

The aforesaid case concerned the prohibition against persons in a Prague airport from boarding a plane which had Great Britain as its destination. They all belonged to the race of “Roma” and some of them had expressed the wish to file an asylum application straight after the plan lands on British soil. Following an agreement with the Czech government, a special unit of the British immigration department was stationed at Prague airport precisely to prevent entry into Britain to persons from that race, because a mass exit of these persons from the Czech Republic had been observed who filed asylum applications in Great Britain.

The Judicial section of the House of Lords analysed the meaning of the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ and decided that this applies to persons who enter the country or who try to enter through its borders for the purpose of seeking asylum. It does not extend, however, to persons who try to board a means of transport in order to leave their country. And since the concept of ‘refouler’ means return (send back) there is no such thing as prohibition of return of someone to his country since he has not even departed from it, as was the case with the Roma in the above case, who had not had the opportunity to leave the Czech Republic yet.

In spite of the above conclusion, it emerges from this decision that the position of the Judicial Committee of the House of Lords is that the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ does not only apply to recognised refugees but also to asylum seekers. It is no coincidence that the Roma were deemed not to be covered by the principle of ‘non-refoulement’, which was not because they had not been officially recognised as refugees but simply because they had not had the opportunity to enter British territory. It ought to be noted that they were not even asylum seekers since they intended to file asylum applications as soon as they would enter Britain. Nevertheless, the British Courts examined their application to be included in the rule, the rejection of which was not, I repeat, due to the fact that they were not recognised refugees but due to other reasons. 
The fact that the prohibition of return (non-refoulement) in the country of origin extends to asylum seekers in addition to recognised refugees, emerges also from paragraph 2 of the preamble to the aforesaid decision which states the following:

“Moreover, there was a general principle that a person who left the state of his nationality and applied to the authorities of another state for asylum, whether at the frontier of the second state or from within it, should not be rejected or returned to the first state without appropriate inquiry into the persecution of which he claimed to have a well-founded fear. In the instant case, however, the latter principle could not avail the claimants, who had not left the Czech Republic, nor presented themselves, save in a highly metaphorical sense, at the frontier of the United Kingdom”.
A study of English case law shows that a series of other English decisions have looked into the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ with reference to asylum seekers without ever finding that the rule applies only to the stage after the asylum application was successful and not to the stage of its examination. (See inter alia R v. Secretary of State for the Home Department and another, ex parte Canbolat 1998 1All E.R. 161, R v Secretary of State for the Home Department and another, ex parte Robinson (1997) 4 All E.R 210 and R v Secretary of State for the Home Dept, ex parte Sivakumaran (UN High Comr for Refugees intervening) (1988) 1 All ER 193 at 203, [1988] AC958 at 1001. From a study of the above case law it follows clearly that the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ applies to all those persons entitled to be registered as refugees including asylum seekers.
That the prohibition of return covers also asylum seekers, is evident also from the resolution of the Council of Europe dated 20.6.1995 (Council Resolution 20.6.1995 on minimum guarantees for asylum procedure (official journal) C. 274 19.9.1996). Under the title ‘Universal Principles’ this resolution states the following:

“The Procedure for examining asylum applications must comply with the Geneva Convention and the 1967 Protocol, in particular as regards the definition of ‘refugee’ and the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ (no expulsion measure will be carried out as long as no decision has been taken on the asylum application) and must be carried out in cooperation with the office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees”. 
Finally article 7 of the European Union Directive 2005/85/EC (on minimum standards on granting and withdrawing refugee status) specifies that:

“Applicants shall be allowed to remain in the Member State for the sole purpose of the procedure, until the determining authority has made a decision in accordance with procedures at first instance set out in Chapter III. This right to remain shall not constitute an entitlement to a residence permit.”
It is true that according to article 7, paragraph 2 of the aforesaid Directive the member states of the European Union can make an exception to this rule in the case of surrender or extradition of a person to another member state following the execution of a European Arrest Warrant or even in the case of extradition to a third country or to international Criminal Courts. In my view, however, such an exception under paragraph 2 must be specified in the national law and must not be decided at will. The Refugee law 6(1)/2000 does not provide for such an exception to the rule. On the contrary it is sufficiently clear that the intention of the Cypriot law maker to comply with the provisions of the Geneva Convention on Refugees is reflected in the side provisions of the said law; according to the preceding analysis, the provisions of the Convention prohibit the extradition of an asylum seeker to his country of origin before the final determination of his application. I believe that any other interpretation for the delimitation of the principle to recognised refugees and for the non-inclusion of asylum seekers would run contrary to the very philosophy of the Refugee Law and of the Geneva Convention, since it is not possible for this benefit deriving from the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ to be extended only to recognised refugees and not persons seeking to be recognised as refugees. 
Given that in order for a person to be recognised as a refugee he must first file an asylum application, such an approach would give the right to the receiving state to deport asylum seekers before their application is approved, leading to the complete neutralisation of the Geneva Convention and the aims it serves. As correctly pointed out by counsel for the respondent, in the event that he is extradited to Russia his asylum application will be rendered meaningless even if at a later stage it is approved by the asylum service.
My final conclusion is that since the respondent’s asylum application is pending, his extradition to Russia cannot be ordered because he is protected by the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ as I have analysed above. As a result, the request must be rejected even if only for this reason. I do find it necessary however to examine the respondent’s allegation for the existence of political motives in his prosecution by the Russian authorities. I find this necessary in case my judgement on the prohibition of the extradition of asylum seekers is not accepted by the Supreme Court in the event of an appeal.

The allegations for political motives and the possibility of violation of the right to a fair trial

A large part of the hearing was spent in the introduction of testimony from both sides regarding the allegations of the respondent. A large volume of testimony has been delivered regarding the cases of the company Yukos. In her final address, counsel for the requesting state stated that this case must be separated from other cases facing former executives of this company and particularly Khodorkovsky and Lebedev, even though she denied the allegations for political motives in the Yukos cases. By contrast, counsel for the respondent insisted that the charges which his client is facing in Russia must be seen within the wider spectrum of criminal prosecutions against the company Yukos and its executives who are clearly politically motivated, as he claimed.
In view of this, I believe the first point that must be decided is whether the present application is related to the Yukos case and to the criminal Trials conducted in Russia regarding the offences involving this company and its executives. A careful study of the testimony delivered as well as of the documents sent from the Russian Federation which supported the present request show that the charges which the respondent is facing in Russia are not irrelevant to the Yukos case. On the contrary, they fall within the wider framework of cases which relate to the criminal charges faced by the executives of this company in the Russian Federation.

I recall that the authorisation of the Minister of Justice (exhibit 15) refers inter alia to the fact that the respondent is facing charges for tax evasion which was practiced by an organisation involved in the sale of oil and oil products of the company Yukos as well as for money laundering in relation to the proceeds from these illegal activities. In addition, he is accused of having participated in an unlawful group together with other executives of Yukos or of companies connected it, misappropriating governmental funds through fraudulent means. One of the charges refers to the payment on his behalf of taxation for the company Mitra with promissory notes of the company Yukos.
I believe it is sufficiently clear that the substance of the charges faced by the respondent are related to the assistance he has extended through the allegedly “front” company Mitra towards Yukos and its executives to help them achieve their unlawful aims, according to the allegations of the requesting state. In addition, the respondent is facing charges that as a member of an organised group he participated in the forging of documents relating to the production and drilling of oil from subsidiary companies of Yukos. The testimony before the Court showed that senior executives of Yukos like Khodorkovsky and Lebedev were convicted for the same or similar offences whilst other executives who have fled Russia are wanted for similar offences. I should also mention that the witnesses of the requesting state themselves, in their testimony on the charges which the respondent is facing, referred extensively to the relationship between his companies and Yukos, particularly to Mitra which was described as a subsidiary of Yukos. Therefore the position of counsel for the requesting state that the charges which the respondent is facing in Russia are irrelevant to the group of criminal cases known as the Yukos cases, is not correct. 

Given the aforesaid conclusion, I will now proceed to examine whether or not the allegations of the respondent, that his criminal prosecution is politically motivated and that in the event he is extradited to the Russian Federation will not have a fair trial, are well founded.
In her final address, counsel for the requesting state argued that since a state-member of the Council of Europe like Russia gives assurances that there are no political motives and that the fugitive will have a fair Trial and will not be subjected to torture and other degrading treatment, the Court examining the extradition request is obliged to accept these assurances and not challenge them nor reject them through its decisions.

With all due respect towards her, I fundamentally disagree with this position. The Court is not obliged to accept by definition the assurances of anybody; the Court is particularly not obliged to accept the position of any litigant based only its identity as a state-member of the Council of Europe. The only obligation of the Court is to decide according to the Law on issues put before it, after having first heard the positions of all parties. None of the positions or assurances of any litigant can be considered to be by definition correct and the Court is not obliged to accept them as such. Such an approach, I regret to say, essentially eliminates the institutional role of the Court as a guardian of the Law and a defender of the Human Rights of the citizens. It also contravenes the European Convention on the Extradition of Fugitives itself, article 3 of which expressly provides that extradition is not allowed in cases where the offences are of a political nature or where there are substantial grounds for believing that the extradition request has been made for the purpose of prosecuting a fugitive for his political, religious or national beliefs. Acceptance of that position would in substance amount to acceptance in advance of all extradition requests without affording the opportunity to the Court to check whether the requirements imposed by the convention and particularly by article 3 are met and without the need to follow any procedure.                                    
I would like to emphasise that it is not desirable and definitely not pleasant for this Court to find for possible human rights violations or for the presence of political motives in the criminal prosecution of citizens in another country-member of the Council of Europe. However, the Court’s obligation to reject a request for the extradition of a fugitive where it is established that there is a risk for him to be subjected to inhumane and degrading treatment or where it is deemed that the prosecution is politically motivated, necessarily presupposes the evaluation through testimony of the applicable circumstances in the requesting state. And it is not possible to accept in advance any assurance from this country in relation to the protection of rights guaranteed by the Convention. On the contrary, since the potential violation of rights guaranteed by article 3 is designated as the issue at stake, the Court can only decide on the matter after hearing the relevant testimony which inevitably must refer to the dominant political and socioeconomic conditions in the requesting state.
The ECtHR decision in Soering v. United Kingdom (App. No. 14038/88/ 7.7.1989) is leading authority on the aforesaid matter and constitutes, in my opinion, a landmark case on the extradition of fugitives. In this case it was decided that it would contradict the deeper values and purposes of the convention as well as the common heritage of political traditions and the principles of respect to freedom which are mentioned in the preamble to the Convention on Human Rights if a contracting party was to surrender a fugitive to another knowing that there are substantial grounds for believing that this person is at risk of being subjected to torture or ill-treatment, irrespective of how heinous the crime attributed to him.
It is true that article 3 of the Convention does not contain an express provision for such power of the Court. The article is restricted only to the refusal to extradite a fugitive in the event of political persecutions. As established in the case of Soering (above) the extradition of a fugitive in cases where there is a well founded reason that he is at risk of being subjected to torture or inhumane treatment would be contrary to the aims and spirit of the Convnetion. The Court has therefore an inherent power to reject the extradition request once it establishes that the above conditions are in place. The principle established by Soering (above) was extended by case law of the ECtHR so as to cover the deportation of a person suffering from AIDS to a country where there was lack of medical care (D. v United Kingdom (1997) 34EHRR423) and the deportation of a person to a state which did not have the capacity of protecting the wanted person against the mafia (HLR v France (1997) 26 EHRR 29).
Regarding the right to a fair Trial guaranteed by article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights, the position of counsel for the requesting state was that this is not in any way related to the reasons for which the Convention on Extradition of Fugitives prohibits extradition. She also described all arguments in relation to this subject as irrelevant to the present case. This view of counsel is not correct either. In the case of Soering (above), the ECtHR the Court recognised that in the case of extradition of a fugitive, there is a possibility for the violation of the obligations of a state member for a fair Trial, albeit under exceptional circumstances. The relevant quote from paragraph 113 of the aforesaid decision is as follows:
“113. The right to a fair trial in criminal proceedings, as embodied in Article 6 (art.6) holds a prominent place in a democratic society (see, inter alia, the Colozza judgement of 12 February 1985, Series A no. 89, p.16, no. 32). The Court does not exclude that an issue might exceptionally be raised under Article 6 (art. 6) by an extradition decision in circumstances where the fugitive has suffered or risks suffering a flagrant denial of a fair trial in the requesting country.”

The recent Cypriot case of Yaseed Essa (application for a prerogative order Habeas Corpus 37/2007, dated 12/10/2007) is also relevant. In this case the Supreme Court relied on Soering (above) to confirm the approach of the District Court of Larnaca to examine the allegations put before it in an extradition case regarding human rights violations by the requesting state. In my view, the examination of such allegations is also rendered obligatory as a result of article 35 of the Constitution of the Republic of Cyprus which directly binds all three functions of the state, the Executive, the Legislative and the Judiciary to secure the fundamental rights and freedoms of the citizen. It also derives from the inherent power of the Court to protect the human rights of citizens.
The issue of the burden of proof in the above allegations of the respondent was determined in the case of Essa (above) with reference to the English case of Fernandez v Government of Singapore (1971) All E.R. 691 from which the Court adopted the extract of Lord Diplock below: 

“The burden of proof regarding the above issues rests on the respondent and it is not that of a criminal trial in other words beyond any reasonable doubt, nor is it that of a civil case, in other words on the balance of probabilities. It is lower than that, given the seriousness of the consequences of returning a person. It will suffice if the Court is justified that there is a reasonable chance, substantial grounds for thinking or serious possibility for these consequences to exist. In such a case the fugitive must not be extradited.” 
Under the circumstances I will proceed to examine the aforesaid allegations of the respondent with respect to the testimony delivered and having in mind the case law principles expounded above.

Counsel for the respondent introduced expert testimony in its effort to show that the present extradition application is politically motivated and that in the event that that the extradition request is granted then the respondent will not have a fair Trial in Russia.

The scientific qualifications of professors Bowring and Sakwa who testified before me were not challenged substantially on behalf of the requesting state. Beyond that, their academic qualifications and publications on the issues which they testified on, in my opinion, leave no margin for doubting their expertise. There was a strong challenge on behalf of the requesting state of the expertise of the Lawyer Dr Gladyshev. I do not agree with this position. In my opinion, his professional involvement with issues of tax and Constitutional Law as well as his previous service at the Diplomatic body with experience in Constitutional matters and issues of restructuring of the system of administering justice render this witness an expert on the issues he has testified on before this Court.
The testimony of the aforesaid three witnesses focused on the motives of the Russian authorities in relation to the criminal cases which the Yukos executives faced and continue to face in Russia, including the respondent, as well as the alleged violations of their human rights and particularly of the right to a fair Trial. They alleged, inter alia, that:

· President Putin intervened in the prosecution of the Yukos executives aiming at dissolving Yukos and restoring state control over the Russian oil industry.

· Professor Bowring was arrested at Moscow airport and was deported from Russia after having his entry visa cancelled, in spite of the fact that he is a scientist who has contributed to the reform of the Judicial system of the country. This was done in order to prevent him from coming into contact with the defence Lawyers of Yukos and because he testified before an English Court against the extradition request which Russia submitted for Yukos executives.
· Khodorkovsky, Yukos’ President, is detained in a remote prison located several hours by plane from Moscow in order to be deprived from direct contract with his Lawyers whose offices are in Moscow. The same applies to his close associate Lebedev who is detained in a prison located several hundreds of kilometres from Moscow. When one of Khodorkovsky’s lawyers visited him. The authorities of the detention centre subjected her to a humiliating treatment, subjecting her to bodily search, stripping her completely and seizing all the documents she had in her possession which related to the interview she had with her client.

· The Russian police carried out searchers at the offices of the defence lawyers, seizing material which was necessary to the Lawyers for the handling of their case. Moreover, the head of the legal department of Yukos was arrested and unlawfully detained whilst other lawyers were prosecuted and efforts were made to strip them of their practising license.
· The Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE) issued a resolution (no. 1418/25.1.2005) adopting the recommendation of the special rapporteur Sabine Leutheusser-Schnarrenberger former Minister of Justice in Germany regarding the arrest and the Judicial procedures conducted in Russia against the former Yukos executives Khodorkovsky, Lebedev and Pichugin. In accordance with the aforesaid resolution, these procedures are not genuine criminal cases but are politically motivated, aiming at the elimination of an internal enemy and the restoration of Russian state control over the strategic oil sector. Moreover, the resolution established significant violations of the right to a fair Trial of the accused persons like the prevention of the defence lawyers from having direct contact with their clients and from entering the court room where the procedure for detention was conducted. In addition, the intervention of the executive in the independence of Russian Justice was established as regards these cases. Similar resolutions were also issued by other international organisations like Amnesty International, the international Bar Association and others.
· By its decision dated 25.10.2007 in the case of Lebedev v Russia (App. No. 4493/04) the ECtHR partly accepted Lebedev’s application and found at the preliminary stage that Russia had violated article 5 of the European Convention on Human Rights through the order for detention of the accused which was found to be arbitrary and without legal authorisation. Russia was also convicted for preventing the defence lawyers from entering the Court room during the conducting of the detention procedure.
· No European Court accepted any extradition request for former Yukos executives to Russia. Most of them justified their decision by stating that the prosecutions were politically motivated. Special mention was made of the decisions of the Bow Street Magistrates Court as well as of the Swiss Supreme Court.
Regarding the evaluation of this testimony, I must say that the witnesess Bowring, Sakwa and Gladyshev made an excellent impression on me from the witness box. Their whole attitude and the thorough manner in which they responded to the questions put to them left me with no doubt that the basic purpose of their testimony was to help the Court as experts to draw its own conclusions in relation to the issues at stake. In addition, the opinions they have expressed with their testimony were not arbitrary. Each one of their positions, whether a scientific view or a testimony of fact, was based on and supported by material which was presented in Court. During their time-consuming cross-examination which aimed mainly at damaging their impartiality rather than their academic views, they always answered in a substantiated way without being shaken at any point.
By way of a typical example I would like to refer to Russian Lawyer Gladyshev when it was submitted to him during cross examination that he was prejudiced against his country. He aptly replied that he considered himself as a Russian patriot and as such he has the duty to denounce his country when it violates human rights. It is those who justify such deeds that damage their country and not those who denounce them. In my opinion, it is hard for anyone to disagree with this view.
I was equally impressed by defence witness no. 4 Lawyer Elena Liptser. This was a witness of facts and testified on the problems she herself faced as Lawyer for Lebedev as well as on the complaints made to her by other defence Lawyers due to the oppressive attitude of the Russian authorities, particularly with regard to the search of their offices. She was perfectly convincing as to her position that she was threatened with personal criminal prosecution by the prosecutor in the Yukos case as well as to her fears in relation to the potential deprivation by the Russian authorities of her license to practise the Legal profession.
For all the above reasons, the testimony of all of the respondent’s witnesses is found to be credible.
By contrast, counsel for the requesting state did not introduce anything convincing in order to contradict the well-documented testimony which was offered on behalf of the respondent. The witnesses Yiani, Khaliulin, Krokhina, Rousanova, Kletsova and Yablokov, instead of responding with convincing arguments to the scientific and well-documented position of the defence, sufficed themselves in testifying aphoristically and generally like for instance:
· Prosecutor Roussanova (P.W. no 7): “Whoever alleges human rights violations at the Yukos trials must hate Russia very much” or “the legal costs of the respondent in this case are paid by the theft of oil from Yukos” or even “the rapporteur of PACE was prejudiced and did not take into account the position of the Russian side”, ignoring the fact that Schnarrenberger’s report contains extensive references to the positions of both sides.
· Public prosecutor Kletsova (P.W. no. 5): “England does not usually extradite any offenders  and has become a haven for criminals who will cause problems in the future” or “The decision of the Supreme Court in Switzerland for the rejection of the extradition request  was taken after political interventions in order to serve the interests of the West”, without explaining what she means by the term “West” or even her condescending view of Lawyers that “[they] are more interested in money rather than in the administration of justice.”
· Professor Khaliulin (P.W. no.5), when it was put to him that the Yukos executives are deliberately detained at a distance of several hours by plane from Moscow as a result of which they are deprived of communication with their lawyers, he replied that “Russia is a vast country and lawyers must always travel in order to see their clients”. Regarding the resolution from the Council or Europe, he claimed that PACE cannot assess the criminal liability of the Yukos executives, ignoring of course the fact that the said resolution does not claim the right to decide on the charges but denounces Russia for the violations of the rules of natural justice in the judicial processes and for the existence of political motives in the prosecutions. In relation to the interferences with the administration of justice, he stated that these allegations originate from Western media funded by Yukos. In spite of these, before testifying in court he had asked for the opinion of Russian Judges in order to challenge the position of the respondent, some of whom were involved in the examination of complaints from Yukos executives and at least one of them serves at the Court which will try the respondent if he is extradited to Russia.

· Professor Yianni Pavel (P.W. 4) replied to the question put to him whether there was an intervention by President Putin in the present case, by stating: “It would not surprise me if the state officials responsible for economic crime refuse to open a case”, implying that there are connections between the respondent and Russian state officials. When asked about the resolution of PACE he replied indifferently by saying “I heard something about this”. And whilst he referred condescendingly to the views of the Lawyer Gladyshev on tax issues, at cross examination he admitted that he is not an expert on tax law.
· Julia Krokhina (P.W. no.2) stated that the knowledge of the Lawyer Gladyshev on taxation law was no different to that of a third year Law student.

Furthermore, prosecution witnesses 5, 6, 7 and 8 referred to all witnesses of the respondent in a contemptuous way making innuendos against their honesty and expressing the view that they had been paid well by Yukos, but without substantiating these accusations. They referred to decisions of European Courts such as Britain and Switzerland and especially to Judge Workman of Bow Street Magistrates Court and to PACE rapporteur Schnarrenberger, former Minister of Justice of Germany, in a contemptuous way. This approach however was not sufficient to reverse the well-documented testimony introduced on behalf of the respondent in relation to the issues at stake. I note characteristically the position of some of the prosecution witnesses when asked during cross-examination about the decision of the ECtHR in the case of Lebedev. They insisted on emphasising only the part of the decision which rejected some of the complaints of Lebedev against Russia, ignoring completely the fact that by the same decision Russia was convicted by the ECtHR for specific violations of the European Convention on Human Rights. The same happened with the resolution of PACE.  Prosecution witness no. 8 Kletsova chose to refer only to article 15 of the resolution which recognises the right of Russia to bring to justice those who break the law, ignoring the fact that in all of the remaining text there is an extensive reference to violations of the rights of persons accused in the Yukos Trials. 
The general impression which prosecution witnesses 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 made on me is that the purpose of their testimony was not to enlighten the court with their knowledge in order for it to develop an objective view of events but instead to promote exclusively the case for the extradition of the respondent. In this effort of theirs they did not hesitate to skilfully avoid replying to questions which, in their opinion, did not assist their case. In addition, during cross examination they easily resorted to aphorisms and unacceptable comments for persons who disagreed with them. It is a fact that the side of the requesting state did not manage to give a convincing answer to all those which the respondent’s witnesses testified on in a well-documented way.

Having in mind the aforesaid evaluation and given that the charges which the respondent is facing in Russia fall within the general spectrum of cases concerning the company Yukos, I find that the respondent’s extradition to Russia must not be ordered because of the political motives at the commencement of the criminal procedure against him according to article 3 of the European Convention on the Extradition of Fugitives. The fact that the respondent has never been involved in politics nor has he ever expressed political views, as alleged by the requesting state, is irrelevant. The criterion in order to evaluate whether a case is politically motivated or not under article 3 of the Convention is not restricted to the political views of the fugitive. As rightly pointed out by counsel for the respondent, article 3 must be interpreted more widely so as to cover beliefs which the requesting country attributes to the wanted person.
In this case it is not important to determine whether the respondent has any political views or whether he participated in any way in the political life in Russia. What is important is that the charges brought against him fall within the wider framework of the Yukos case. As a manager of a company connected with Yukos, the respondent must be considered as a member of the class of the “oligarchs”, a class which the Russian authorities set as their political aim to dissolve, according to the testimony of professor Sakwa that was accepted by the Court. I must also note that the testimony of the witnesses who testified on behalf of the requesting state was also strongly politically coloured. The views on prejudice and hate against Russia, the defamation of Russian Justice by western media and the intervention of politicians in Switzerland in the issue of Judicial decisions serving the interests of the West  can only be judged as clearly political.
Prosecution witness no. 3 Morphaki also did not exclude the political nature of the present application because of the decisions of European Courts which refused to extradite Yukos executives precisely for that reason.

With regard to the right to a fair Trial, having in mind the entire testimony and particularly the resolution of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe no. 1418/25.1.2005, I find that the respondent has proven to the degree necessary that in case he is extradited to Russia there is a reasonably obvious risk that he will suffer a flagrant violation of his right to a fair Trial. The connection of the present case with the group of cases of Yukos for which several international organisations like PACE, European national Courts as well as the ECtHR have found that the rights of the accused to a fair Trial had been flagrantly violated, leaves no margin for anyone to argue that the respondent will be subjected to better treatment if he is extradited to Russia. On the contrary, the entire testimony described above places the present case amongst those exceptional cases where the Court must not order the extradition because of a reasonably real risk of violation of the Right of the respondent to a fair Trial in the event of his extradition to Russia.

Conclusions  
Summing up, I find that the present application must be rejected for the following reasons:
1. The respondent is an asylum seeker and cannot be extradited to Russia before the final determination of his application by the asylum service, in accordance with the principle of ‘non-refoulement’ as this was established by article 33(1) of the Geneva Convention on Refugees.

2. The charges faced by the respondent in Russia are tainted with political motives in contravention of article 3 of the European Convention on the Extradition of Fugitives.

3. In the event that the respondent is extradited to the Russian Federation, there is a real risk that his right to a fair Trial will be flagrantly violated.

In view of the above, the application is rejected. The present decision will be communicated to the Minister of Justice and Public Order.

Alexandros Panayiotou

District Judge
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